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1. We put out warnings. We wanted to blow. the .site

2 and get out of Dodge, so to speak.. We were advised we Had

3 to hold the site. And so, we got overrﬁn. | ‘ -

4 That’s the brief story of -Site 85.- We lost nearly

5 everybody. |

6 Q. Do you recall whether anyone was captured?

7 A. We never knew. We had, as I recall ;;'theseva{g
% 8 very close numbers. I think they’re accurate. Tge night .
% 9 that we were overrun up there‘was March 10;4§¥%e BSmbardment
% 10 started the tenth, and we were overrun sometime in the -
f 11 morning of the 11th.

12 We had up there at the time, as i recéli, 17

13 Americans: - df%j//? a USAF sergeant

14 forward air controtler that I’d put up there a few days

15 before, on loan from the Air Attache, becapse it was. e

16 ebviously going to get pretty tight. His name was Sergea

17 AfmE I remember his name. He wés the ‘only one who: -

18 wounded or killed. ' ‘ L By

Let’s see. That’s two. There we:

raflar types up there. We got five of the
them was killed on extraction.

s =

‘~ﬁg'. was laying in a chopper/ione_o

» L
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Were there any other examples, any other

e

installations like this, any other units like this, in any

service, to your recollection? ;

A.

Q.

No, not to my knowledge.. . -

Were there any other examples of D,%“f?%’ as

you‘ve described it, to your knowledge?

A.
Q.
A.
Q.

A.

In Laos? Tt
In Laos.

Not to my knowledgé.
Anywhere else? .

Well, of course, over the years'there have been

all kinds of -- -

Q.

A.

Oh, keep it to our commission here, Indochina.

That’s why there’s a tradecraft name for it. But

that was a mistake. There were many mistakes made there-

Q.

Did this [ AfR practice continue after you

Well, I wouldn‘t think so.

Was this a unique thing?

... A what?

Urtique?

It was unique to me.
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We fought and fell out of many, many sites over time,:,lni
fact, the next one -- that wasn’t the first, that wasn’t the
only site they were after. It was theit majothobjective,
bet there was still plenty of time .left in the dry Season,%_
and they rolled on with these units to Lima Slte 36, which
was our main supporting stole strip, maybe 30 mlles, 25
miles south of there. If we lost that, it 1ooked like we

-

were going to be threatened even in Vientiane.

So we did, then, mount a major ai?ggemﬂgign -
immediately after the debacle of Phou Pha Thi. We were
given the authority to mount a major air caﬁpaign, and
absolutely decimated them. It was a great victory by air.

Q. About when was this?

A. It started - President Johnson’s Apxil Fool!s-Day
Speeeh»took place, in which he announced, amongpo4 e k
thingg,_the cessation of bombing north of the 2
entered 1nto a great debate for a couple'L

whqg "north of the 20th" meant.

have meant Laos, 51nce

”Iaos.rfSo hOW coulc
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We sterilized northern Laos and destroyed those
two regiments. v
Q: one of the people I‘ve talked to has mgntioned»the
term "PEO." Does that mean anything to you,- that - —
abbreviation? -
A. No. Not off-hand.
Q. Do you recall any abbreviations in connection with

L

laying out air strips and 51t1ng and thlngs like that? Were

~Eg
you engaged in that in Laos? o
A. No. .
Q. Was your group engaged in that?

A. They had already laid out the Lima sites by the
time I got there.
Q. Who had done that? Do you recall?

A. ) aTH

What was the size of Project 404?

w;Big.
How many people vere involved in. tn;t’
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regions at any given time. They had detachment commanpders
for the AT-28’s from Hurlburt Field, Flori@;, my old unit in
Speciai Ops. Each of these military rééions héd‘detachments
with AT-28‘s, an American detachment commander, é'coublé of-
pilots, some maintenance guys, armament guys; aﬁd their
mission was to assist the Lao Air Force. They flew with

them in flying their missions. -

oo

So we had those in each of the military regions.

.
e

‘ . ]
Then the Air Attache staff in Vientiane was augmé%%ed by
404. So, you know, we‘re talking 100 people, I suppose.
Q. And 404 was run by Deputy JUSMAG Thai, is that

correct? . B
A. No, it’s not. Dep Chief was not runﬁing 404. Dep
Chief was a logistics organization. |
404 was . run by the U.S. Air Attache.>r
And that was a colonel? 2
During my time
po you recall,
of that? Did that pqs-it;fion, ev

2

er yea
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1. A. Dick Trefry. Yes, I know him.., And Vessey, .too.

2 Q. They were both 404, or were they Dep Chief? -

3 ‘ A Dep Chief. A ‘

4 Q. They were not 404? - - ' C—
5 A. They were not 404. o

6 Q. Was Trefry double-hatted or was he just Dep Chief?
7 A. Dep Chief. But they may have attachéd‘404“to Ehgm
8 by that time. I‘m not sure. — - .
9 Q. He was never a Defénse Attache oéﬁzgytggkg? .
10 A. No, no. He was Dep Chief, and so was Vessey. -
11 Q. Yes.
12 Were they the logistics pipeline, then?”’

13 A. Yes.

14 Q. And Project 404 then was the expanded support

! 15 staff? How would you describe that? . .-

16 A, Project 404 was an augmentation of the U.S. Air

Attache in Laos, and it was a DP&'A program designed té

_complement DATA the U.S. Air Force effort, of
course. : . :l

A i

-#Q. Was the chain of command through %Q'

country team, or was there a chain

some Air Force command?

e
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1 Ambassador is in any chain of command - you‘know! h(:_a:gi of
2 the country team. The U.S. Ambassadors, Sullivan, in -
3 particular ~- we called him the "field harsh;ii“ —-- asserted
4 themselves constantly in this role. , I spent,,a‘,lé':t'of.time‘w
5 in his office. -
6 Q. And 404 was the expanded Air Attache.
7 A. Yes. ’ I .
8 Q. Did that mean operational planning for gir strik;s
- | =
§ 10 A. It did. g | '
S 11 Q. -- and the counterpart things to what -- I'm jﬁst
: 12 trying to clarify for my own understanding -~- to what you
13 were doing?
14 A. It did. «It was a compliéated picture.
15 Q. Yes, very complicated. ) : .
16 A. It was a complicated picture, but it worked vé;y

~

well. The RAVEN FACS, for instance, forward air
- controllers, who were part of the 404, would_cqhtroi;&ll
U.S8. air strikes in Laos.

{lﬁp. (llncluding YOurs?

% A. A}l U.S. air strikes in La

That’s what I thought.
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1. There is a book called The Ravens, which i§;§lm65t

2 all wrong. o N -

3 - The other augmentees that I déscribéd, the .

4 detachment commanders and their AT-28‘s, were enormously .-

5 effective. I mean, for their numbers, there‘wefe jus£ a few

6 of them, they were tremendously effective in the war zone.

7 It all did work together. When you put it on the e

8 blackboard, it looks messy. But it worked well.

9 Q. Project 404 was theiAir Attache,.zﬁibtﬂgg words,.
10 conducting operations or conducting activities in a way that
11 he could call upon Air Force assets for air strikes?

12 a. Absoluteiy, and he did it every day. -7

13 Q. Did they have the approval of the Ambassador?

14 A. Yes. -

15 0. Was _A}fF7Vlﬁ; involved in that chain of command?

A, To the extent it inVolved our forces, he had to

be. He had to chop them.

So there was a deconfliction program?
£ - . S c
Yes. That deconfliction program yéig»a dled by

4

,ap, I told you we met face to face.

Yes% That’s what thOSe‘meet

‘Thgyfwgré deconfi&ctidn,
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Q. I have one final question. At last, I final}y.got
to it. This has been very, very helpful and maybe we ought

to take a break.

My last question is this. .

When you left Laos, did you believe that Ameficans
were still there, in captivity in Laos?
A. I didn’t believe one way or the other. - I~ didn’t

have evidence that they were still there. But the law og
large numbers would lead a prﬁdent person tgqgésdiﬁ there )
might be, and, therefore, you had to stay vigilant in ‘
looking for intelligence. |
Q. Did you ever see any CIA-originated intelligence
reports? Let me put it this way by way of preface.
We have @IA-originated intelligence reports.of

sightings in that time, and we have, you know, JPRC or their

predecessors, and so on, of, you know, what look like

reasonable intelligence reports, as they go.

Would you have had access to‘thatei'

-
A. Yes.

b3

w Q- Was that the same kind of inform

%

P s s : (gt
earlier raid in the Mugia Pass a
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some indications that there was some activity there.‘,Buﬁvit
built and built. There were rumors, reporpsl half-baked .
sightings, straggler reports, some cues_in SI;-wpich we -
cﬁuldn’t get cuts on. But we knew.pretty weill, as much as—_
you do in warx, that this was a high probability'POW site,
which is why we acted so quickly.

It wasn’t something that we had to adbnizé«over

o

for a long period of time. We finally got the confirming
evidence and even got some skétches of whaf*?g lgg&ed like.
And so, we felt that we had all the information we ngedgd to
mount an operation. And we did.
Q. Again, when you left, do you recall the names of
anybody who went down, who you thought was still alive?
A. No, I don't.
Q- Did you then? - . -
Yes.
You were aware of then?
Yes. : ‘ .

One of my closest friends, that,I,ilew¢COmbat’w

&

,‘«/U%Prnéi Lieutenant Colonel Ge

wi shot down. I think he’s still ca
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Q. What was your reaction on 28 March, 1973, when
only 9 people came out of Laos? I'm asking_you a personal
question here. This is not a professional one, other than

that you are a professional. - . T

A, Well, I have composed that memo, which is pretty
strident, if you recall, that answers the question, I think.
Q. Would you summarize that reaction for this- record?

A. Can we come back to this.

- .

. *y .v
MR. KRAVITZ: Yes, why don’t we come bggk to it

a

after the break.
MR. McCREARY: That was my final Question.
THE WITNESS: I can come back to that edsily. Bul
you’‘re going to raise céin.
MR. McCREARY: He’s going to ask about the ﬁemoiz

so I think I’m done. Why don‘t we just tékeia.break.

(A brief recess was taken.]

MR. KRAVITZ: Back on the r



2 A. Yes. o o -

3 Q- After you left that-assignmené, didnyog continue

4 té have access to intelligence in Laos? - ,> ’ T

5 A. Some. N A |

6 Q. Did you continue to have access to any

7 intelligence information related to lost personhel in Laes

8 after you left your Aﬁq?% assignment in 19687 -

9 . A, I went back to LaosAbriefly in 1§gg.gn ??oject 404
10 because one of our, the commander of our group out there, -
11 from Eglin Field, or Hurlburt Field, had an emergency. His
12 name was Hartley, Lieutenant Colonel Hartley. So-I went out
13 and relieved him for a few months in the spring of 1969. 1In
14 that capacity, I werked under the Attache. That was kind of

LT interesting.
16 7 It was the same routine as before.

Q. So when you were in Laos in the spring of 19§§,

.again, you had access to intelligence. information,
5 ; - ) :

includi
and possibly missing in action informatiap

‘;;szy But I &onft recall anything(s,g

llngrfhe perdod I was there.

So, is it accurate-to sa

a in th ispring-df 1
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been when you left in 19687

A. Correct. o -

Q. Other than that one stint in £he spging of 1969 in
Léos, did you continue to have access to intelligénce‘ T
information related to the loss of personnelé ' )
A. I don’t think so.

Q. Does that answer cover the period up hntiiuyou

A

arrived at the Pentagon in 197272 ]
A. Yes. - .-
Q. When exactly did you arrive at the Pentagon? When
I say "arrive," I mean when did you start working at the
Pentagon? | -
A. Oh, roughly the first- of July, 1972.
Q. And you were at that point the Desk Officer for
Laos? . | : . o
A. Yes. 7 |
Q. And that was within the Office of -~
; OSD. ' ] ;“

>
—— ISA?

3 Yes.

hat exactly did that job e
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say. It involved coordinating with the Defense Security.

Assistance Agency to make sure that the Military Assistance

Service funded logistics support, which was hundreds of .

millions of dollars per year that was flowing. It was =~ . __

strictly an administrative kind of activity.
I took a trip or two back out there during that
period. .
Q. When you said "“to Laos," you meant? )
A. Yes. I had cambodia also, by thé*%§§. - .
Q. Okay. So you were the Desk Officer for both Laos

and Cambodia?

A, Yes. .-
Q. And was there a separate Desk Officer for Vietnam?
A. When I first got there, there was a separate Desk

Officer for Cambodia. But I think he left and I took it.
over, or something.

There was a separate Task Force for Vietnam gﬁ
at tiﬁé, célled the Vietnam Task Force 'in.ISA. Bgt during
| : that task force was pgisedquf; and |

working in took over tﬁéir
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1. and Laos. ; . . e
é 2 Q. Now in your position as the Desk_Qﬁficer for Laos
3 and Cambodia beginning in July, 1972, ;nd conéinping on -for
4 -- was it about a year that you were in that pcéitioﬁ? B
5 A. Yes. -
6 0. Did you have any responsibilities related to POW
7 and MIA issues? oL . §
8 A. Not specifically. I could be wrong on this, but I
9 think that POW/MIA affairs wére a special ;Gggec€~in another
j 10 office. . -' -
g 11 Q. There was an office named the POW/MIA Task Force
} 12 that was also within ISA? -
13 A. And the PDASD, the Principal Deputy Assistant
14 Secretary‘’s Office--- that’s what I thought it was. But I
15 was vague on that.
16 - Q. Does a man named "Roger Shields" mean anything?’
17 A. Yes, Roger Shields. VYes. I remempe:anggr.F. 7

That’s right. . .
’ﬂ * 5 .
He had his own separate staff for

*m_“riggt. 1 remember it now that you mention

™ Q. ‘Netwithstandinérthe assistan
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What do you mean by that? I mean, if you didn‘t

have any specific responsibilities, did yoq_gtill deal with

the issue on occasion?

A.
talked.

‘Q-

I kept up with it, of course. I knew Shields. .He

We were right down the hall from each other.

What was your working relationship with Dr.

Shields during that time period? . -

A.

L

Oh, we coordinated on some of his stuff, I think,

to make sure that there weren’t errors. wé Egh ﬁgsple who

lived and breathed the Southeast -Asia war. My section

-

provided the working level officers on the State Department

Ad Hoc Group on Indochina which, by this time, was chaired

by none other than my own "John the Baptist,“ Ambassador

Sullivan.

peopie<sat on that. We met, it seemed like every day. We

I sat on that as a member of that, or one of my

were working on what became the 1973 Paris Accords. Thing

like that, political things, were going on all the time;

It was our offlce that was supposed to’ be up on
%

s
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1. to make sure that they were correct. . i . —
2 Q. In terms of what, information about Laos and - .
3 Cambodia? - » N . .
4 | A. Sure. And Vietnam, and the whole~regibnﬂ -
5 Q. Okay. o
6 A. As an example, when we were talking about what
7 became of the 1973 Accords, none of us forgot about- the .
8 POW’s and MIA’s. Indeed, as I recall, Defense Department
9 ‘ nonconcurred on the final drafts of what bégggg tﬂg 1973
; 10 Accords, for a number of reasons. ) -
§ 11 Q. That’s the first I‘’ve heard of that. What’s your
§ 12 recollection on that point? -
‘ 13 A. Basically, we nonconcurred for the reasons that it
14 unravelled, that tkhere was no "there" there. There was no
18 what do we do, what happens if they don’‘t abide by ﬁhé Paris

16 Accords. But the White House was hell-bent to get out eof '

17 there. There was a lot of acerbic discussion in thes

meetangs:* : ‘ .-

ook

Q. When you say the Defense Departjwuﬁi

aioﬁ%ﬁwithaor &idn't'approve of the Accords :

finally draftéd, who are you refer:

A. At my level, the IsA lev

ik



90

1~ the assistant secretary? . ‘ , .

2 A. There was no assistant sééretary.k h

3 Q. In January of 19737

4 A. That’s right. - - S
5 Q. That was after Mr. Nutter had left?

6 A. Long after.

7 Dennis Doolin was the Deputy Assistant Secretagy,
8 a very dynamic man. I guess he’s still around soyewhere. .
9 I’da recommend you talk to him». He’s much }:;;ger,ujif he’s
10 still sane, he would be much better on that subject than me. )
11 Q. You mentioned that one of the thihgs you did in
12 your job was write memoranda or draft memoranda for your
13 ~ superiors. I assume you inélude within the term “superiors"
14 the actual Assistamt Secretary of Defense for ISA. Is that

Y 15 correct?

A, When there was an Assistant Secretary for ISA.

When there wasn’t, it was for the Deputy Assistant,

‘LSecretary, Dennis Doolin. In those days, Defehée Deparﬁme
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Nutter was long gone when I got there, at ny-

1-
4 2 earliest recollection. I think he left a couple of months
f 3 after I got there. . | -
i 4 Q. So you didn’t work for Nutter at atl? —
1 - . -
% 5 A. Oh, I may have for a couple of months,
i 6 technically. But I worked for admirals. I worked for
g 7 Admiral Harry Tfain, and then Admiral Bigley, wﬁo} in tqu,;
§ 8 worked for Dennis Doolin. - )
‘ 9 Q. Who is Admiral Bigléy and what wa;?is gsitién
é 10 within ISA? s i
: 11 A. Director, East Asia-Pacific Regiéﬁ, as Train was:
12 before him. )
13 Q. And so, you were a subdivision within Bigley’s

unit?
Sure. He had the whole Pacific.
How many people did you have on you

Oh, god, I don’t know. Not eno

At first, my staff was just
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Q. When you would be called on to draft a memo for,
say, someone who was an Assistant $Secretary of Defense for
ISA, when there was such a person holdihg tha£-positionp
what was the procedure that that memo would,go,through?' How
many people would review it before it was fiﬁaliy sigﬁed and
sent out?

A. Well, it depended on the subject, 1iﬁe-anyuothsr
paper in the Pentagon, or in State, for that matter. i
Offices of coordinating respdnsibility anddgﬁgmaﬁgr
responsibility had to be coordinated with. One of the.jobs
of an action officer is to know who they éré, and when you
miss one, you hear about it in a hurry, because it will
start squealing. And so, it could be quite extensive,
sometimes. Don’t forget the Joint Chiefs of Staff are
there, - and you usually have to coordinate with .them. It’s a
laborious process, except unless the Secretary has a

W

partlcular point that he wants done quickly and w1th a_

mlnlmum of coordlnatlon. Then you’re told.---

L

Q. ™ Did there come a time when Lawrengg Eagleb rger

Yes. But I have’a ver
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Nixon Administration, was coming in and he came with _them, I

think. o N -
Q. I know you‘ve already told us_that féug -
recollection of Mr. Eagleburger was -dim in that-poéitioh.-——
My understanding is that he was only there fér ébout ;
month, in that position.
Do you recall what your working relationship wég

with Mr. Eagleburger at that time? ‘ -
A. I don’t think I had-any personal-;gfgtigﬁship with
him. My relationship was with Mr. Doolin and my boss, 7 -
Admiral Bigley. ‘ ’ ‘
Q. So, in other words, if you were to get a request
from Mr. Eagleburger, it would go to you through Admiral‘i‘
Bigley? -

A. I’'m virtually certain of that.

W Q. And your response would go baék;tq

through Bigley?

And Doolin. Yes.

g

Q. kOkayQ ;
_WHat abstut Robert
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fﬁthe Knaiytical Section of DIA would produce -a paper for us.

Wesdealt wi®h CIA, too, by the way, in the j
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Q. I don’t know for sure exactly when he took_ aver
that position at ISA. I know as of late May, he was in that

positien.

A. Oh, I was there. I just didn‘t have,ahYthing’tow_
do with him. -

0. What about in the Defense Intelligence Agency. In
your position as a Desk Officer, in 1972-1973, aid'YOu héyg

professional relationships with anyone in DIA?

A. Yes. T el X

Q. Who was that? .

A. The names?

Q. Well, what were the positions is what I“m really
more interested in? What parts of DIA?

A. What thet4r post number was? There was an officer

in charge, a colonel, that I dealt with a lot, .who was qpite

good, that was in charge of current operations, that we

o R
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were the office of primary responsibility for the rules of
engagement, which was a constant hassle. We had to have a
lot of- DIA support there. So we knew our counterparts in

DIA, if that’s your gquestion. At JCS also. -

Q. At that time in DIA, there was a special office

for POW/MIA Affairs. Do you remember if you had any contact

with anyone in that office? S

A. I do not remenber. )

Q. Does'the name "Charles Trowbridgéﬁgﬁeajihnything'
to you? . . . .

A. No.

Q. I think he was the head of the office at that

point.
What about, there was a man who was Acting

Director at around that time, March, 1973, John R. Dean?

was a lieutenant general from the Army -- not the same Jo

Dean of Watergate fame.

A. I know.
E 2
I remember the name, but that wa

vel.

Q. 8o that was not someone yo
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Actually, I’m not sure of the first name, but it was Admiral

Whitmire. o -

MR. McCREARY: Don;- Don Whitmire.

THE WITNESS: I remember .that name also. But if.__
I‘’ve talked to him, I don’t recall it. - .

MR. McCREARY: Do you remember H. B. Smith?

THE WITNESS: Yes. B

MR. McCREARY: He was Whitmire’s boss.

THE WITNESS: Yes, I remember hiﬁ;igoo’-'

MR. McCREARY: Do you remember John J. Pavelle,
Navy Captain, DIA?

THE WITNESS: Corvall? -7

MR. McCREARY: Pavelle.

THE WITNESS: No.

MR. McCREARY: Do you remember Joe Stevens,
Colonel Joe Stevens?

THE WITNESS: No, I do not.

BY MR. KRAVITZ (Resuming): -

i Q; - You’ve talked about inteffagencyd;;;atiOnshiés

fhat “you had while you were the Desk Officer: Yéu‘,e
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0. What exactly was Mr. Sullivan‘s position in 1972
and 1973, when you were the Laos Desk Officer? ‘
A. He was DAS for East Asia, Deputy Assistant
Secretary of State, East Asia.
Q. Okay.
I these inter-agency meetings -~ and he was the

Chairman of this group? -

A. Of the Ad Hoc Group on Indochina.
Q. Were POW issues discussed in meetTfs d;rthat
group? . ' )
A. Oh, I’'m sure they were. But I don’t have specific
recall. ' “r

The relationships with State were not all that

good. -

Q. What do you mean by that?
A. I mean most of us saw them as a part of the

problem rather than part of the solution. These‘OperOgég

oy

\b@pauge of state Department concerns. The mi:
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hralled with the civilian leadership, at least part of 1
- : v - pos
ch came from State. -~ . .
I already mentioned the Geneva Accords. I might
. i 3 reqgq
o point out they were not coordinated with or even :
o oo — : 4 wou
ormed on the Christmas bombing campaign, not even : . e
ri
ormed, because we couldn’t trust them not to leak. Does 3
6
t give you a flavor for the environment of the time? '7
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1_ A, If I had wanted it, of course. , -

. 2 Q. What was your access to POW-related information
3 held by the CIA? . ' B —
4 A. Well, I suppose it was eqﬁally available. I can’t
5 recall making any requests. - ‘
6 Q. But your understanding, at least today, your
7 recollection is that in 1972 and 1973, when you'werewthe'
8 Laos Desk Officer, had you contacted the CIA for i
9 intelligence information on POW issues in ﬁ;?!, J%ﬁ would
10 have received what they had? | : ‘ )
11 A. Absolutely.
12 You see, first of all, I was well known-to them.
13 Second of all, we were giving them an awful lot of money and
14 they liked us a lot.
15 Q. | Were there particular contacts within the CIA who
16 - you knew to be experts on POW/MIA related issues?

A. No, not that I can think of.

Q. So you would have called someone

IA and been referred to the appropriate p

A. I'd just call the DDO. We met in

¥ agency meetings. We knew each other

W3Q.  Was AmbaSsadoﬁZGodleg‘
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right. ) s

MR. McCREARY: He left arocund April, 1973, -
according to the State Department file. o

THE WITNESS: Not quite the end, then.‘

MR. McCREARY: Not quite the end.

THE WITNESS: Practically the end.

MR. McCREARY: John Gunther Dean was interim
Charge. | )

THE WITNESS: Yes, now I remember. ®yeM T knew
Dean when he went down to Cambodia. ’

BY MR. KRAVITZ (Resuming):

Q. What was your working relationship, if any, with

Ambassador Godley, while you were the Laos Desk Officer

within ISaA? -
A. None.
Q. What is your sense as to whether intelligence

information held within the Embassy and the Embassyfstaff

A. " on, he was very cooperative. I mgi him w

Weng out on trips out there. I‘m suré_ they .wg
™s anything we asked for*or,ahYthing the
b *6. Is it accurate to say‘¢ ﬁ

posgtion as €he Laos Desk Office

8s, re to sorts of
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A. Yes. We had all the clearances. Yes. .
Q. As I’m sure you know, thefParis Peace Accords were
signed .on January 27, 1973, and on that day, both the North

Vietnamese and the Viet Cong produced lists of American-

prisoners of war that those two governments’—faétions,
whatever you want to call them, were planning to release
during Operation Homecoming. R

It was on February 1, 1973, that the No;th
Vietnamese then released the so-called Laos LIkt éf'lo
prisoners, including 9 Americans and 1 Canadian.

Let me just ask you first, éoes that comport with
your memory of how events uﬁfolded? .

A. Yes.

Q. Were you.aware of concerns within the Defense
Department, and I guess more specifically within the Office
of the Secretary of Defense, over the completeness of thé
Laos list after it was released on February 1, 19737

A, Yes. .-

‘éan yeu te}l us what the concefnédggre.that jou

of and by whom they were held?

ﬁk. ;ae;céﬁéérn was a very simple ohe.’~i'
absurd_ that there would be so few nam

LR BN
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1 you say "we were concerned," who’s "we?"‘
2 A. Everybody. o -
3 Q. Do you mean up to and includiiqg thé “S‘ecretary of
; 4 Defense? .. - .
5 A. Yes. ' .
6 Q. Or are you talking about within ISa?
7 A. ISA, who were the experts; Roger Shields'egroup;
8 my bunch; the admirals; the JCS’; the U.S. Air Force. i
9 Q. It was a widely held concern? = e ‘
; 10 A, Sure. X )
11 Q. How did you become aware of how widely held tilis
12 concern was? Were there meetings, discussions, memqranda?
13 ‘ ‘ A. I don’t remember. We probably were all yelling at
14 each other, I suppoese. I don‘t remembef exactly,

15 . Don’t forget, I said that, at least . t ny

we nonconcurred with the 1973 Accords. We .d

g :

with them. We said they should not be pro;

‘ no’é in the U.S. interest to do s’,b.fry 6t
‘ & : s

Q. *Was ohe of the parts of 1
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1 Q. That’s what I wanted to ask you about. .

2 Was there a sense that there was no way -- -~

3 A, There was no lever.. — » .

4 | Q. I don’‘t want to talk over .you, but. ——. | __
5 A. When you’re dealing with North Vieéndﬁese, ;6u

6 need a stick a club. There were no tools or instruments in
7 that pact, as I recall it. I can’t recall in fhlsomeAdefail
8 now, but there were a lot of parts of it that we gid not )
9 like. ' . '
10 Q. Focusing in on the POW aspects of what you{re- .
11 talking about, was it that there were, that the Accords
12 ', really didn’t include any mechanisms by which we could check
13 and make sure that the enemy really was giving us all of our
14 live prisoners? <

15 A. There was no mechanism for us to, in fact, .there

ak

.

were anti-mecﬁaﬁ%sms'for us to check and make sure that they

‘were abiding by the terms of the Accords militarily;
bgger of battle, since there wasn’t any prov

* 1t goes without saying there was no provis

*fggrﬁs~with respect to

rying to recall
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arguments over that.

- . D

Q. How high up within the Défense Department did -the

nonconcurrence with the Paris Peace Accords go, as you

recall? - - -
A. Well, at least to the ISA level. -
Q. So that would include Mr. Doolin?
A. Oh, yvyes. I’ve talked to Dennis. He’s much beEter
on this than me. I haven’t seen him in years. But in tho;e

days he was very sharp. He was a wolf in éﬂggp’éiﬁlothing;

Q. You’ve told us that you worked closely with Roger -
Shields.
A. I didn’t say I worked, I don’t think I said I

worked closely. I said I knew him and talked to him

frequently. -
Q. I’m sorry. I thought you’d said you were right .
down the hall from him.

A. We were, right down the hall.

. Q. Were you aware of Dr. Shields”’ re5pé 
e e L
g . - : L3
La?§ list? G |

#- I can’t remember right now. I‘m s

e
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There was some confusion initiglly about, pegq@ple
were trying to match names with lists. But it didn‘t take

1ong to figure out that there-was a big hole there. §

Q. How long after the Laos list was produced on = .

February 1, 1973, was it that it became generally understood
that that list really was not a list of U.S. prisoners held
by the Pathet Lao, but, rather, was a list of pfisohers(who

had been captured by the NVA in Laos? .
A. I don’t know. Not iong. T

The entry level of knowledge about Laos has. to be
that the Pathet Lao, that’s a myth. There were no real,
organized, disciplined Pathet Lao troops. That was part of
the facade that was out there.

We were dealing with North Vietnamese Army hard
core troops and, on rare occasions, with NVA advisers to.PL
units. So there were some mixed in our OB, in our order of

battle units, and the rest that we were concernedkwith\ﬁére~

allkNVA. It was our belief, based on years of ﬁ 
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1 were just simply doing what they were told to do for

2 whatever reasons they were told to do it. -

3 . So, we, at least in my group,‘always'looked at it

4 aé a whole, not an NVA-PL split. Maybe we were~wrong, but _

5 that’s the way we looked at it. - -

6 : MR. KRAVITZ: Mr. Spencer, at this time I‘’d like

7 to show General Secord a couple of documents. B |

8 MR. SPENCER: Then leﬁ me excuse myself. i

9 , THE WITNESS: We’ll Jjust do that,m‘gen,-:and wg’llo

10 be finished. ., ‘, .
’ 11 MR. KRAVITZ: Yes. This may take a little while. .
' i2 I still have a fair number of questions about those

13 documents.

14 MR. McCREARY: Off the record.

@ 185 ' : (Discussion off the record.]

(Whereupon, at 1:30 p.m., Mr. Spencer exited,

was not present for the remainder of the depositioh.]f\

— | BY MR. KRAVITZ (Resuming): } .-

S s
General Secord, I wanted to show ydu
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for the Secretary of Defense, Subject: U.S. POW/MIA_
Personnel in Laos -- Action Memorandum. ) -
I’'m going to show you this doéument-énd ask you,
just for the record, whether you recognize it. - —
A. Yes. I read it earlier today. -
Q. What was your role, if any, in the drafting of
this memorandum? s |

-

A. I don’t recall specifically. The memorandum looks

familiar to me. From the slu'g' on it at thé*ggd, ’m:xich was
our normal routine, it said it was prepared by me and_ﬁy
boss, Rear Admiral Bigley, which would have been normal. I
probably had some people helping me prepare this.-

Q. Is it your presumption that you actually wrote the
memo? -

A, It’s my presumption that I drafted at least the

first draft. Bigley, who is a very precise officer,

undoub@edly made chances in it. But I don’t remember

~

pec1f1ca11y
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1. were, in response to what it was that you were drafting this
2 memo? o ‘ L T
3 A Well, the memo details why. It was what gave rise
4 to the memo. - - ,L ’ R
S Q. What was that? ‘
6 A, The announcing by North Vietnam of the.people who
7 were supposed, the only 10 people who were POW’é,'accordéPg
8 to them, in Laos, one of whom was A Canadian, I guess.
9 Q. Okay. But this memérandum, whichdzg%eagg to have
10 been written toward the end of Margh, 1973, at least the
11 slug indicates that something happened then --
12 A. 23 March. -
i3 Q. -- does that mean that that’s when you drafted it?
14 | A. I think that means that’s when the finalldraft’was
15 prepared. ff\\ Lo

16 Q. For some reason, this memo doesn’t have a date

stamped on the front page.

Well, it says that there’s a querynby

'd‘ pout~his query; Buﬁ;itfs




1 the Secretary of Defense must have said something to the ASD

2 for ISA asking for information on thHe Laos POW situation?.
3 A. Either in writing, which is wﬁat one would think,
4 with the word "attached"™ here. It .could have been a ﬁoﬁe,~_
5 you know, handwritten notes. We’d get them énd'used éé call
é them "snowflakes.'" Or it could have emanated from a staff
7 meeting. There were daily staff meetings which‘my Superéérs
8 attended. )
9 Q. So, in other words,'it could havé*?%gt Bﬁen an
10 oral directive.. . . ‘ ]
11 A. Or both. It could have been both. It could have
12 been hey, I sent you a note, what are you doing about it.
i3 Q. I want to go through the memo and ask you some
14 questions about specific points that are included in the
* 15 memorandum, if I could. I‘m going to be referring to page

numbers that have been assigned by the Office of Senate

Security down in the lower right hand corner.

A. Fine. ' -

Q. First, on page 4, the memo 1nd1ca§§s~that DIA

i

anal sis_shqws that all ten who vere on the'Fébru EY

E

;l@kt'were;caﬁagred by North Vietnam in Laos

e

béing held in Hanoi, obviousl

‘mDo yeu know hat the basis
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1. you. . _ .
2 0. Okay. Obviously, we know it’s a long time ago..
3 A I’'ve described to you how we Qorked:. pndoubtedly,
4 wé summoned the DIA, the relevant DIA people. ,If'you.had”_
5 the coordination copy of this, you would undéubfedly ;ee one
; 6 or more DIA shops on the paper. It’s inconceivable to me
S‘ 7 that DIA would not have shopped on this paper since we céte
: 8 them as a source. So there was probably a working session_
9 ,to draft it. T e
10 Q. So, every time in the memo you write "DIA an;iysis
11 shows" such and such, that would be based on informationf '
12 provided directly to you by DIA? -
13 | A. And coordinated on by them, because they know it;é

14 going to the Secretary of Defense

Q..

ggrovide the information to you, but~th‘ ‘

cpggpe‘to review and edit a draft of

t went to the, Secretary of;Defe e

It could not héve;hap

S - 7
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Q. Okay. . ‘ . « o~
Also, on page 4 of the memo, there’s a discussion
of a comparison of the percentages of lost peréopnel in ‘Laos
who came back or who were included-on the Laos .1ist w?th the
percentages of lost personnel in North and South Vietnam who
had come back.
I think you’ve referred to this issue eariier.b

As you know, there was a much, much smaller

L =¥ o :
percentage of people lost in Laos.
A. Yes. 1It’s an order of magnitude difference._
Q.  There were 2.5 percent of the pebple lost in Laos

who appeared on the Laos list, whereas 20 percent‘bf the men
lost in South Vietnam and 45 percent, or somewhere around 45
percent of the people lost in North Vietnam were on the list
of men to be repatriated.

The memo indicates, again, that the DIA concluded

“that the Pathet Lao may hold a number of unidentified UiS;

isdﬁers of war, although we cannot acquratelyr'

as a conclusion, I take it, ﬁhatit,é«
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1 point. ) s

2 A. That’s what it says. - -
§ 3 é, The memo indicates. that we cahnoé'éééurately judge
4 how many prisoners of war may be held by the Pat'het Lao. Do
é, 5 you remember what the range or possible rangé of numbérs was
l 6 that was discussed?

7 A, No. That would be guess work. - .
§ 8 Q. Do you have any recollection at all? o
V‘ 9 A. Many. Dozens. ' = or ’

10 ' Q. So you would say certainly more than a dozgné

11 A. We thought so. ] :

12 Q. Again, when you say "we thought so," who are yoﬁ

13 referring to?

14 A. Well, obviously me, since I was the drafter;

15 obviously my boss, Bigley, who must have signed it’up.

I‘m virtually certain because of the formal

memo that all the players agreed with it.

You see, had they not agreed wit

'.yi‘g4.ey,'we didn/t agree with
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the way this memo reads indicate?

- . - - e ..

A. It means there’s considerable uncertainty, which

is logical. - .

Q. Okay. o -

Just tell me if this is an accurate summary of
what you’ve said. There was really almost, essentially

unanimous belief that there were U.S. prisoners of war held

- .

by the Pathet Lao in Laos in addition to the ten on the

list, on the so-called Laos list, but there wis ™Wlly no

unanimous agreement as to how many prisoners fit that

category.
A. Yes, I agree with that. , .
Q. Would you say that there was widespread agreement

that the number was at least in the dozens?
A. Yes. I think that’s fair. . . -

Q. And within the group of people who agreed that the

number of live prisoners held by the Pathet Lao- was in, the

dbzens, would you include Roger Shlelds’

A.™ My guess is yes.  But you’d have t

‘Soilin other words, you don'tv é
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Q. Okay. So, in other words, your best recollection
of what this March 13, 1973 query must have been was really

a request for operational recommendations as to how to react
to —- .. - ,' ' R
A. I believe that we all met and concluded thaf we
should take the lead, we, in my section, because we were
going to recommend to the President of the United States

A -

that we take a stick to them. That’s the way I read this

memo, and I believe that’s logical. = e .
AQ. And the first couple of, pages, summarizing_ﬁﬁe
problem --
A. Sets the stage. r
Q. -- sets the stage for the recommendations that you

were going to make?
A, Yes, for the Secretary, so that the Secretary,-iff

he agreed with this, we wanted to convince the Secretary

first of --

Al % yes, so that he, then, could téie

th “the President.

R ipg.g

Certa;n documents that the,

® Q.
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Lao in Laos, over and above the nine U.S, personnel onatﬁe
so-called Laos list, certainly a number con;istent with what
your recollection is. - ‘ .

Is that a number, does that ring a-beli'bith“90u~
at all? 1Is that a number that you remember seiﬁg bandied
about? ,

A. Vaguely. It does seem so, vaguely. That*s why I
said dozens. That was the order of magnitude thg} I think.
we wexre thinking about. . T e ‘

But we were flying blind, or ‘the analysts were.
They didn’t have all that kind of, I mean,-this was a big
case of deduction that they were going through here. It was
more common sense than anything else. . .

Also, yow said the Pathet Lao several times. I

don’t think that we, although we would accept their form-if

they wanted to call it LPN or whatever they’d callyit, but

we always believed it was the North Vietnamese still in.



117

1 Q. Right. ) .
2 A. Which is why we non-concurred with that piece.of

3 paper to start with, we in the more sefiouéAéért of the

4 gbvernment, you know, as opposed to State. | . ‘. .
5 [General laughter)] ) .

6 A. But this was no laughing matter for us over there
7 at the time, though I make light of it now. We wartted to go
8 back to war, if necessary, to resolve this problem. Andbdé
9 should have, I might add, I believe. = r |
10 Q. Obviously, the statistical comparison thatﬁsiset
11 forth on page 4 of this document w;s part of the reason upon
12 - which you based your opinion that there should have been

13 more than nine U.S. personnel on the Laos list. Wés there
14 anything more to i€, or was it just a statistical

. 15 comparison? In other words, was there intelligence . -

information?

A. I think that you’re going to have to ta;kkto\éhe

_intellidence experts from that day. I‘m nogﬁone;  I‘b’ &

thg; tﬁereﬁﬁere a lot of pros, though, 1ookige
i . ot

. . | |
in SIGINT. I think, in fact, I know t

that’s what tipped us on Sonta




10

11

12

a3

stronger suspicions about some names than about others.

118

build it into a picture. . ‘ 4 _—
Well, that’s what the analysts were doing. So it

wasn’t-just intuition that went into this. There were some

factual bases for these beliefs. But I cannot_pﬁll it up.-—

for you right now, you know. I just don‘t remember. It’s

so far back. It’s a wonder I can remember this at all,

especially at my age.
Q. Do you recall whether any of these dozens of

. ,...ig et
people whom you and the people you were working wggh

-«

#

believéd were still held in Laos, and these people were,
again, in addition to the nine on the Laos'iist, were any of
these people known by name or were they all unidentified by
name? |

A. Well, that’s a logical question, but I can’t

answer-it. I think they were. I think that there were -

'Q;’ Were there any known POW or strongly’beiieyed.POW;

caﬁ?bns, camps, such as you told us about -in y«
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- I mean, after all, we’re recommending that we go back.ﬁo
war -- you can bet that we scrubbed every piece of ~
information and we tried to get the cooberatioﬁ of every
element in the Pentagon, certainly; -that was- in the kﬁow.-
I‘m sure this took us many days to put this £o§éther.

0. On page 4, the front page of the memo, the memo
indicates several recent diplomatic moves in an attempt to

obtain an accounting and the release of U.S. POW’s held in

.
e

‘ . . ol .
Laos. It talks about the several diplomatic moves, and it

refers to a recent demarche or recent demarches conveyed

personally to Souvannouvong. Do you-recali-what the detaiis
of those diplomatic moves were? ’
AA.' No, I don’t.

Q. Do you have any sense of what level those

diplomatic moves would have been ordered at? . : -

A. The Godley level.

Q. So at the level of the Ambassadd:?;

A. Sure.

Q.
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A. Exactly. ‘ _ .

Q. From your reading of this-memo, does it indicate
to you. that these demarches were done realif'et the behest
of the Office of the Secretary of Defense? _ ‘ o

A. That’s a different question. To be fair to State
Department, much as I like to beat up on them occasionally,
I cannot say with certitude that that was the WEy‘it“went.
My recollection of the environment at the time, though, T
would make me tend to believe that it was at ®he .%quest of.'
De}ense, generated within Defense. They were, afteriail,
our people, anyway. Although State Department was worried
about them, they were our people, our services, and it was
our services, the Air Force and the Navy, that was banging
on us. - .

Q. DOD ultimately was responsible for these men I.
guess is the point? .

A. Yes. Right. )

wQ. Page 4 of the memo also 1nd1cates‘that ‘the
%geeretafy of State, Mr. Rogers, 1nstructed'A1bassado

offfMarch 15, 1973, to give demarches to the §o
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A. Of course, because we were griping about it ~all.

Q. Do you remember ever being present at a meeting or

having any discussions with Secretary of State Rogers—

on this issue?

That

have

then

A. I was never in a meeting with Secretary Rogers.

was way over my level. . _

Q. But your expectation that Secretary Rogers would‘
' T

shared your opinion regarding the Laos POW problems

is based on your recollection that people in your

office were complaining about this problem all the time and

that those complaints reached him?

A. Sure. We were meeting with Sullivan’s people and

with Sullivan ali the time.

position, as you knew it, on this issue, on the completer

of the Laos list?

£
Q. What makes you say that?

_A, Because Sullivan was an expe

all that &ime out there, ‘totally

Q. Actually, on that point, what was Mr. Sullivan’s

A. I think he felt that it was incomp éte
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kind of trapped a little bit there. . 4 —
But this says 15 March, which is long after the
Paris Accords. So they must -have been sufficiently alarmed

about it to hammer on the Soviet Ambassador: -' ' T

Q. Would Sullivan have been involved in the Secretary

of State’s decision to instruct Godley to go to the Soviet

Ambassador? | 7 T .
A. Almost certainly. Yes. I wouldn’t be .surprised
. . T wr
if he_drafted the instruction.
Q. In your understanding, was Sullivan really . the

resident expert within the State DepartmeﬁtAon Laos at the
time? o

A. No question. No question.

Q. And somebody that Rogers really relied on for his
Laos decision-making?

A. Of course.

Q'MA If you could, turn to the next page. We are‘now
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Do you have it elsewhere?

McCREARY: I found it.

-

KRAVITZ: Let me makeé sure it’s the same one.

WITNESS: It’s. summarized here, though, isn’t

KRAVITZ: This is not the one that I have.

McCREARY: 1Is that 213972

WITNESS: 2139. -

McCREARY: That’s it.

~xg o

MR. KRAVITZ: No, this.isn’t it. This is not the

one that’s referred to. I have it here.

MR. McCREARY: No, this is the one thatfs‘referre&

to. It most certainly is. I beg to differ.

(Pausej -~

THE WITNESS: TI assume that this aécun&:ely

sum%grizes what he said, this paragraph herérl

Tt separates the issues.
G T

KRAVITZ (Resumi
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I‘m going to show you that precise cable.
A. This is the instruction? 7 -~
Q. Right. - . ;
This cable appears at page 795 of .the -set of JCS—
files that are here in the Office of Senate éecﬁrity..’It’s
a cable dated 22 March, 1973, from Admiral Moorer, the
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs, to Admiral Gayler.at CINCPéF,

information to General Weyand, Major General Woodward, and
e I

also Ambassador Bunker in Saiéon. .
In essence, the cable dirgcts that thg U.S.. troop

withdrawal be suspended unless and until the Pathet Lao

provide a list of U.S. prisoners that it holds in-addition

to the nine on the so-called Laos list, and unless they

actually tell us when they’re going to feturn these people

.and where. o - -

From your position in ISA in March, 1973, were you

*+ 1 f#ist have been. We cite it~hergi :
g n : T
As you recall, what was your view of it2,

not have sent out a me

B R i o A EIRET
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whole raison d‘’etre for ISA. . , -

Q. So, in other words, Admiral Moorer would have - .

needed- the concurrence of the Secretary of Defense, .

essentially? e -

A. Either him, personally, or ISA for him. 1In a
matter of this import, it would have required both, because
I don‘t think the Secretary would have shopped it without

referring it to his staff. He could have, but probably

e |
wouldn’t have. ol

Q. Is it fair to say, then, based on the fact,thét
that cable did go out, that the Secretary of Defense, Mr.
Richardson --

A. It was Richardson by this time.

Q. Right --.that the Secretary of Defense believed

that there was a serious problem concerning the completeness

of the so-called Laos 1list.

A. There’s no doubt of that.

Do you say that based on the fact-that
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1 A. So this is early-on in his tqure as SECDEF; »The
2~ issue was not, it was a pretty strgight—forward issue. .It

3 wasn‘t a hard sell to get him on board. o | '

4 ‘ Q. Lower down on that page, .in the third baragraph,__
S the memo refers to a message that was sent to the U.SI

6 Delegation to the Four Party Joint Military Commission on 23
7 March. Again, that’s a memo from Admiral Moore}.' sl »

8 Do you recall what that was all about? ) )
9 A. Not off-hand. = e ‘
10 ) Q. I’'m going to show you the cable that is refer;ed )
11 to. Just for the record, this cable appears at page 37 of
12 box number 3 from the Sieverts file here in the Office of
i3 Senate Security. 1It’s, unfortunately, a slightly redacted
14 memo. But we can still tell what it is.

It’s a cable dated 23 March, 1973, from the -

Chairman of the Joint Chiefs to the Chief of ﬁhe‘U.S.

Delegation to the Four Party Joint Military Commission_in

Séigon.

is  “ Essentially, it says that the U.S.

d 7%a'—wi;l go forward as long as the pe

thé Laos~list, are rgléased by Me
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1. position within ISA, can you give us any_ insight intg the

2 change in position between the 22nd of Marqh.and the 23rd of
3 March?- = A . . . |
4 | A. Is there another way to read this?. . o I—
S {Pause] o -

6 A. I‘m not sure what Moorer was getting at there.

7 You know, I can’t guess. I just don’t know. ft”S'pessiE;e
8 that he was saying that we don'f want to jeopardi?e the

9 release of the 10 people, but we’re still g3?§§ tgrpursue
10 thi;wother matter. Nothing would have happened in one day’s
11 ~ time to change anything, that I can think of.

12 Q; So you don’t recall any discussions witliin the

13 Office of the Secretary of Defense —--
14 A. No. -

15 - Q. --over why to take a less hardened position? - -

e 16 - Al I‘m not sure that it is a less hardened posit

0. Okay. Well, let me ask you this. I

probaﬁiy gave you my interpretation.ofzthé ar

Wi ché‘?Wasle%on’t complete the troop withdraw

Lao give us a list of more people th

g ahdjtg%;rus when “they’re go

%:
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1 to a different addressee, is it not? ) ‘ .
2 Q. It is. I guess I don’‘t ix‘nderstand it. Maybe-you
3 can tell us what difference does that make’ .
4 A. This cable’s to the Four- Power, you know, fhié is
5 to our representative - in the Four Power Comm1551on. )
6 Q. The March 23 one is?
7 A. Yes. And it says, I think it says tclI the NoEth
8 Vietnamese guy that in order fcr us to complete our
9 w1thdrawal by 28 March, as we’ re committed ‘.t.:?do,-' we’ve got
10 to have the times and places for these ten guys. And.then it
11 goes on, does it not, and says but, of course, we’re going
12 to pursue these other people up in Laos also. I think that
13 something was going on in Saigon that he wanted to address.
14 That’s the only spin I can put on it. I don’t think it
'z 15 changes the basic guidance. Otherwise, we wouldn’t havc

written this memo.

Q. Okay. Is it your point, then, that the March 22

cable, the one to CINCPAC, would not have gone to the Nortn

‘%’)

ﬁVletﬁamé§%°,

A. I don’t know.

only reason I ask that
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coincident with the release of all --repeat all -- American

prisoners held,’" et cetera.

AL I understand. And you could read this as a -
softening of the position. But I ¢dn’t tell yoﬁ Qhap
happened. If it is a softening, I can’t tell you what
happened, obviously. I don’t know. It could h;ve been that
the CINCPAC message was, it was info’d to Saig&n[ wasn’t _it,
to Weyand? |

Aavg .-‘
Q. Yes. Yes.

A. It could have been that that prompted a question
from the Four Power Military guy about thésé specific ten
Does this mean we’re not going to, you know, are Wwe going_to
give up the ten -- you know, a request for clarification.

It could be that we’re reading this thing out of context.

I’'m not sure. But I don’t believe we would ha,eigd

A. Well, we don’t know. It s:
. - : B
of the last page.
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Q. Let me tell you what Admiral Moorer told us about

=

this in his deposition -- - -

A. Yes. He'’s the guy who might knoﬁ.~
Q. -- just to see whether this jogs ypu;rﬁemory as to
what, if anything, was going on in ISA on this éubjecﬁ.
Moorer said that the March 22 cable, directing
CINCPAC to stop the withdrawal unless and until-the;Pathét

o .

Lao gave us a list of additional prisoners and told us when

andtwhere they were going to be released, ﬁggiépﬂiﬁved at
the presidential level and also by Kissinger and the. -
Secretary of Defense, but obviously primarily at the
presidential level; and that in his judgment, the-March 23
cable really was a back-pedaling and was the result of a
realization that the nation just couldn’t go back to war and
just really had no leverage because of politicél issues here

at home and a problems with the Congress.

Then I’m wrong.
I guess my gquestion to you is were

S that you recall on those subje
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I just want to be clear. This means the opinion
of the drafters was even if those fén were released on time,

there were still more prisoners of war, in addition to those

ten? - - - - c—
A. That’s the topic of the memo.
Q. Why, if you remember, why would you say the Laos

MIA problem or *MIA question," rather than come right out

and say there still are more prisoners of war left behind

; ~ug oy .
and that needs to be resolved? I guess my questfsﬁ is does

the use of the softer language indicate anything?
Aa. Use of what, softer language?
Q. Right -- in other words, calling them MIA’s rather

than POW’s. Does that indicate anything to us, or should it?

A. No, I dom‘’t think so. I think that we didn’t hold

any of-them formally as POW’s there. I think they were all

technically MIA. I don’t think we held any in POW status.

Q. I think there was a small number, bd_ ert

L £ . R
iA. If we did, we would have gone aft

&hink if people with

shots, I think*that
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Q. There was a small number-of people in Laos th_
were carried officially as POW, unlike NorthQietnam and
South Vietnam. . o

A. Probably those three that I mentioned to you
earlier. )

MR. MCCREARY: Charles Shelton was one -of. the
names.

THE WITNESS: Shelton was one of TH#n, ;Mat’s
rigﬁt -- I remember that now -- ?nd the other two with him,
I’1]1 bet you. |

MR. McCREARY: He’s the only one officially listed
as a POW.

MR. KRAVITZ: Today.

MR. McCCREARY: Today, yes.

WITNESS: Well, we had three of them. We had

their names. We knew who they were.

-

MR. KRAVITZ: There were six people off c1a11y

\'ITNESS. akay.
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1 Do you recall how that list was developed? Would
2 that have been a list that you put Together yourself? -
3 A. Undoubtedly. Me and my gquys ﬁndoubgéd put it
4 tégether. .. - - R
5 Q. So you would have been involved nof oﬁly in-the
6 military options but also in the diplomatic options that
é 7 were discussed? T ;
f 8 A. Yes. . )
9 . Q. Do you recall whether those optio;ﬁeré do you '
ﬁ 10 remember having a meeting with Mr. Eagleburger about this
11 afterwards? Eagleburger obviously signed the memo, so, -
;‘ 12 obviously, he approved it at some point.
; 13 A. I don’t remember ever meeting with Eagleburger,
14 but maybe we did. -He was kind. of a rubber stamp at that
¥ 15 time. .He didn’t know anything about the place. He wés just

16 kind of there.

a7 Q.  So your sense was that once somethinglgop-p

Bigley up to Eagleburger --

. o
A. Once it got past Doolin.

Past. Doolin, okay. Once
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1, A. Well, of course, he was sitting there. AHe_glsé

2 knew what the conversations were in the staff meetings with

3 the Secretary of Defense. I -mean, Eagiéburgef-is not .

4 étupid. He knew where everybody was comingwirom.' Théfe-was

5 no doubt in my mind about that. o .

6 Q. /Bo\you have any sense, then, of what Mr.

7 Eagleburger’s own opinion on these issues was? - - .

8 Al I have never had any sense about what Eis

9 pos}tions are on any subject-throughout mydngg,.Tbng
10 association with him. . : . _?
11 Q. Okay. But your sense is that, at least right up ;
12 to the level of Mr. Doolin, there was a strong agreement -- §
13 Aa. Yes. |

14 0. -—- that the positions set forth in this memorandum
1s were accurate --

- A. Indeed.

Q. -- and based on common sense and good iﬁtel1iééncé~

information? - .ee
-
Yes.

I’d ¥ike to direct your attentio

th_ée“pap@is here, frdm the

Digryou have an opportuni#
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What is that document, that two page document?
More specifically, what is it in rglation to the four page
FEagleburger memo that you drafted? |
A, That’s why this four pager is callpdvaﬁ-action
memorandum. In defense parlance, that means the reciﬁient

is expected to act if, of course, you agree with the facts

as set forward. The action is always a signature. - So yéu

[

always append an action memorandum, and that’s what this i;.

Q. Would you agree that, whereas the "t i M )
memofandum includes both military and diplomatic
recommendations or options, the -

Al But not all contained in the basic memo.

Q. Well, no. ﬁy question is, whereas the four page
memo that you drafted includes both military and diplomatic
options, the two page memo that Richardson ultimately Sigped
to go to Kissinger excludes the military options and ‘

dlscusses only the diplomatic options. Does that mean'that

%lthe memo that Richardson ultimately signed is di

w
e

W%A, ‘Here I have to make an assumptlon.ﬁ

Q&
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1 A. In my opinion that’s what happened. I‘m not

2 certain. He could have bounced it back to us and said, -

3 quickly, do it over. But I think that Qhat I“just said .in
4 the first place is what happened. .. -  .' ' o
5 0. Okay. o ‘

6 ‘AL There were some military moves still retained in
7 here. B |

8 Q. But what makes sense, then, is that the memo thﬁ;
9 ~went to Richardson for his signature that can® oéb'of your‘
10 office would have included all of the same recommendatibnsh
11 or at lest options, that the Eagleburger memo included?

12 A. Sure. It included going back to war. T mean,

13 that’s what we were talkinglabout.

14 Q. Do you have any recollection as to why the

Secretary of Defense decided not to recommend to Mr. .

Kissinger that we go back to war?

A. I do not. To be fair to all the men involved,

do not know.
e -

I_pfetty much scrubbed that out

a pretty bitter loss. You know, we’d

of-3s who had beenrin th

the‘gaY,theyrsighéﬁ thé& Paris
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essentially dead at that point.

- . - .~

Q. Do you recall any response from Mr. Kissinger -—--
Al No. 5
Q. -- regarding this whole set of memos? - -

A. In this case, I do not.

Was Kissinger still National Security Adviser or

had he moved over to State by this time? TR
Q. He was still National Security Adviser. He didn’t

move over to State until the fall of 1973. = ®=¢

i

A. Okay. No, I don’t remember.

°

Q. Do you remember any discussions within the Office

of the Secretary of Defense regarding where this issue Qént,

from Richardson to.Kissinger? -

A. I really do not. I really do no
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1. A.  DASD. . . -

2 Q. For ISA? o o -

3 A. For East Asia/Pacific region,_ISA. itfs a ]

4 mouthful. - .- -
S 0. For East Asia/Pacific region. '

6 Do you recall any subsequent efforts within ISa to
7 bring to the attention of superiors concerns over the POW
8 problem in Laos? - .
9 A. Off-hand, no. Shields would know. = %
i0 Q. I take it, though, that the concern on your part -
11 and on the part of others within your office did not

12 disappear? ’

13 A. Well, of course not.
14 Q. For how ¥Yong a time period after March, 1973, did

you continue to believe that there were live prisoners
remaining in Laos?

A. A long time.
Q. Can you give us a sense of thét?"?‘

b .
A. Just years. After a while, you 1

““Por how long a period £t
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1. LLaos Desk Officer? . i } T
2 A. Yes, because then we weré'engaged_in the last - .
3 throes-of trying to support the Vietnamization-fqrce levels,
4 and DSAA was directly involved in that. Also, Cémbodia‘had—
5 sprung to life, and we were trying to save Cémbbdia from
6 going down the tubes. And so, I think I still had pretty
7 fair access. R .
8 Q. Did you continue to hold your belief thgt there .
9 were dozens of live American brisoners lefé*?g ngg thrpugh
10 the time you were at OSD in 19752
11 A. I don’t know if I constantly quahtified, it, but I
12 have always believed that, until recently, that there was a
; 13 good possibility of live prisoners somewhere in Laos. Laos
14 is very remote, a very, very rugged, primitive area. The
b 15 law of - large numbers leads me to conclude, has .always Ié@'me‘

to qgnclude, that there’s a good chance there could be s

pedple‘left there.

As time has gone on, of course, you do.lose
E o : '

S . : R, S
to bet now, I think I’d have to betj}a

i

,ﬁfL f%,l ﬁad

»Too,mapy years have gone by.

ﬁ% - Thete is just nothing, n
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Shields and others within ISA who were involved in POW-

related issues throughout Indochina. -

You‘ve told us, certainly, about your reaction. and

the reaction of others to the question of whether the Laos__

list was complete. Do you recall similar coﬁcefns regarding
the completeness of the North Vietnamese and Vietcong lists?
A. Yes. ; R
Q. Can you tell us about that? .

A. There was nothing in the historyfﬁgg 1 Whderstood

-

7

it, of the communist Vietnamese leadership to suggest that
truth had any meaning at ali. It was not relevant. It’s
interests that count, and, moreover, their perceptibn of
interests.

So it was- my working. assumption, and I think most

of my colleagues’ working assumption, all along that they.

would hold back because they would perceive these hostages

to have value, just the same way the Lebanese;militia-:;kho

"militia," but Hezbollah -- perceived it and..others have
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that some that were handed over to the Soviets, whicg_ya§_

another assumption that we made, based on at least no -

intelligence that I was aware. of at the_time,uénd based upon
réports that we had of extreme cruelty to prisqnérs, fhat __
some they’d rather not return, that they wouid éxecuté‘or
hold back. So I don’t think anybody who was working on the
issues of the day then would believe anything tﬁat the .
Vietnamese would hand over to us. _

I told you most of us who were iﬁ~§iﬁos§!ionfto
kngw, who worked with it every day, knew exactly what,t;e

Vietnamese were going to do after the Paris Accords. We

just knew it just as surely as we had seen their operational
plan, and it came down the road just like it always comes:

down the road. There was no doubt about it.
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again. Certainly not in this capacity. _

BY MR. McCREARY: - -

Q. Just for the record, to clarify a point, Vientiane

cable 2139 is accurately, in my estimation, .summarized in.__

the cable. You did a good job.
“A. I assumed it was accurately summarized.

Q. We found it belatedly so. It is almost hard to

read.

If I understood yoﬁ dorrectly, ybu sai&'ﬁhat you

beliéved for a long time that thege were some humber of
people still in Laos. Would you have held that belief as
recent to these events as the fifth éf April, 1673, for
example? I‘m going to get to the importance of that.

In other-woxrds, if, .on the 28th of March, and at

the 23rd of March, 1973, you felt that belief, it didn‘t

"change in the matter of a week or so.

g

‘j%. It didn‘’t chénge for years; ‘At least it hasn’t -
h\nged‘to this day. 1It’s just that,
and th& die. '
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an Embassy Vientiane cable, Vientiane 2553 -- I repeat,

2553. The date is 5 April, 1973, from U.S. Embassy -
Vientiane. N B .
| I’‘d like you to take a few moments, as we wfap up,
to read that paragraph. My question is does.thét strlke you

as a significant change in at least the attitude toward

prisoners? ’ SR
A. Who is Lindstrom? "Regarding most recent o
Lindstrom foray into PW/MIA picture." I don™® reﬁ%mber anj;
Lindstrom. . i . .
Q. I don’t remember off-hand. Without reviewing it

again, I can’t recall whether that was, I think that was an
ICRC, an International Committee for the Red Cross,

representative. Bwt I’d have to check the record. It was

an unoffiéial, not a U.S. Government group action.

By way of background, there were.

Paris Peace Accords.
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1 reluctantly concluding that the LPF does not hold any _
i Jg\ American prisoners. Well,  what about the Vietnamese in-Laos
3 who held the majority in Laos? He doesn’t aadfess that.
4 | So I think the cable is misleading. I never = __
5 thought the LPF held any prisoners, either. -Tﬁey wouidn’t
6 dare hold them if the North Vietnamese Army didn’t want them
7 to hold them. Of that I can assure you. R |
8 Q. Had you ever seen that cable before? Is it at ail
] rembtely familiar to you in your capacity EREfE?i' .
10 A. No, not really. 1It‘’s just not one of these ‘ -
11 wonderful diplomatic, you know, wonderful cables that
12 ignores reality. They just flowed all the time.
13 Q. What struck me about that cable in the context of
14 your memo, the Chairman Qf the JCs memos, and sd on, and,

you know, messages is that, up until Homecoming, we are -
pressing all buttons to try to get all the people,“

,ﬁhrticularly on this Laos issue, which is what‘WeCVefbgén

tglking about these hours. In our réseafch,

h ”ﬁeég; which seems to right off live p\‘ 

‘¥9§§

It ignores .
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A. Sure.

y . -
Q. And that memo -- R\ .
A. It doesn’t addréss ‘them fo ‘ eason. But

hé continues, as State has always done, to pild'on the-
notion that there is such a thing as a Lao People’s Front,

or whatever that stands for -- I‘’ve forgotten -- Pat;iotic?

Q. Lao People’s front. - -

The thing that strikes me is that as late as the

27th in this package of cables, and it’s nofﬁgkrmi!é for
taking‘ﬁp any more of your time, but on the 27th of Maréh,
John Gunther Dean did make a demarche to the Laos front --
A. I’'m sure. .-
Q. -~ and was very insistent. He mentioned names
like Debruin and Hxdlicka.

A. Those are, Hrdlicka is another one that was in.

was .one of them. I remember that.

80, on 27 March, they‘re saying

Feb 'ary, your list of nine 12
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The question is, in your judgment, in your vast
experience, what is responsible for this? Do you recall} any
messages, any memos, any meetings on the 29th ef March, on
the 30th, that weekend -~ - - R

A. No.
Q. -- that would have said well, the prisoner‘of war-

issue is over in lLaos? ' N
L s

A. No. I can only attribute it, once again, to them

-- it sounds strange, I know,'lt sounds strange ésrme -— but

o
=

I can only attribute it to this notion that was created in
1962 by Averell Harriman and his bag man, Bill Sullivan,
who, don’t forget, wrote that accord, and created-out of
whole cloth this stete, this neutralist state, headed by
Souvanna Phouma. Having talked to Souvanna Phouma many
times,. I can tell you he didn’t give a rats about that. - He

just didn’t.

e

What he wanted was to be left alone. Bill
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tell you. I‘m sorry. ) .
Q. That’s very helpful. o -
A, If there’s another . reason for‘it,-iuéan’t help
yéu. . - - R
Q. That’s very responsive. .  Thank you: .

MR. McCREARY: I’m done.
MR. KRAVITZ: All right. -

L

That’s all the’questions we have. Let me just ask
you one final question. ' = .
# BY MR. KRAVITZ:
Q. Is there anything you;ve told us that you want to
add to or change in any way?
A. Just one thing that I omitted that I wanted to
mention, Bill Sullivan’s name,rwith respect to Site 85. The

radar technicians that were up there, roughly 15, a dgzeﬁ or

15, 16 at a tlme, on shifts, part of the rules was t( t
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We also requested repeatedly to put a Special
Forces officer, an NCO, up there with themn. But at first,

we started out a little bit grander than that. We wanted to

put a couple of squads. Finally, we reduced our demands .__

down to just an officer and the combat experieﬁced NCO. We
were always turned down.
Had we been able to, had we done that, I think

-

they would have held on through the night until we could get
1;__0 them. That was another grbss error. O}a? .-' | ‘
MR. KRAVITZ: Thank, you very much, General.i ﬁe
really appfeciate your time. Again, we apologize for the
delay this morning. | o -
[Whereupon, at 2:35 p.m., the taking of the

instant depoéition»was suspended. ]

"

The Witness

CRIBED AND SWORN to before me th




